No Poriode Vertite Novertite Now What?

A Guide to Regaining Your Cycles and Improving Your Fertility

CHAPTER 6 PCOS or HA?

Nicola J. Sykes, PhD with Lisa Sanfillippo Waddell MSW & Stephanie G. Buckler, Esq. Publisher's note: This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information in regard to the subject matter covered. It is sold with the understanding that the services of a competent medical professional will be sought with regards to your personal situation.

We would like to thank <u>Kate Albarella RD, LDN</u> for reviewing and providing feedback on this chapter. She is a dietitian who works with people with PCOS; if you find that you DO have PCOS, please consider working with her. <u>TheDietitianKate@gmail.com</u>

Consult with Dr. Nicola Sykes, PhD:<u>http://noperiod.info/appointments</u> for guidance on diagnosis, individualized recovery plans, and supplements/ medications.

Paperbacks and ebooks for sale at <u>NoPeriodNowWhat.com</u>, Paperbacks available at <u>Amazon US</u>, <u>Amazon UK</u>, <u>Amazon CA</u>, <u>Amazon DE</u>, <u>Amazon AUS</u>

Visit <u>www.NoPeriodNowWhat.com</u>

for more information and <u>blog posts</u> on a variety of topics. Find our Support Group at <u>http://noperiod.info/Support</u>, support for getting pregnant at <u>http://noperiod.info/TTC</u>, and follow on <u>Instagram @NoPeriodNowWhat</u>

Antica Press LLC Creative Commons License No Period. Now What? by Nicola J. Sykes, Stephanie G. Buckler and Lisa Sanfilippo Waddell is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/ Published 2016, updated 2019, 2023. First edition published 2016. Cover design by Mallory Blondin ISBN-13: 978-0-9972366-8-2

ISBN-10: 0-9972366-8-X

1. Health and Fitness--Women's Health. 2. Health and Fitness--Infertility.

Contents

Chapter 6: The HA/PCOS Conundrum	1
What Is PCOS?	
Diagnosing PCOS	3
When PCOS Is Actually HA	5
Does It Matter If I Have PCOS or HA?	8
HA and PCOS??	9
I Definitely Have PCOS	11
Long-term Concerns With PCOS	14
In Summary: PCOS or HA?	16
For More Information	18
References	19
Contents of Complete Book	22

6 The HA/PCOS Conundrum

WHEN WE TELL our doctors we're not getting our periods, there's a diagnostic path they follow to determine the cause (chapter 4, "Diagnosis"). This includes a verbal history, a physical exam, some hormonal assessments, and perhaps an ultrasound to look at our ovaries and uterus. Based on these findings, they propose a diagnosis. Often, that diagnosis is hypothalamic amenorrhea (HA). However, there is another condition, called polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) that affects around 12% to 18% of the population¹ and manifests similarly to HA in some cases. So it is natural for this to be among the conditions suggested when we visit the doctor complaining of a missing period.

In this chapter, we talk about how to correctly diagnose PCOS and/or HA, as well as some treatments and long-term issues to think about if you do in fact have PCOS. If you're not interested in reading through all the research and just want the short version, here it is: it is common for doctors to diagnose PCOS based on the presence of amenorrhea and an ovarian ultrasound showing lots of small follicles (egg-containing structures called "cysts"). BUT, this information is not sufficient to diagnose PCOS **over** HA, especially when the risk factors for HA are present², as discussed in <u>Part 1</u>, "Hypothalamic Amenorrhea Nuts and Bolts." If you've been told you have PCOS, please ask some more questions and make sure that it is the correct diagnosis for you.

Kelli: Where do I begin? Let me keep this to the point: you know yourself best. You know best what you have done to yourself, regardless of your diagnosis. Have you been restrictive with food? Have you overdone working out? Were you ever at a low weight or lost weight quickly by creating a severe calorie imbalance? The thing is, we HAers will be told many things. I have been diagnosed with PCOS by one doc, HA by two others, and with thyroid dysfunction by another. All reproductive endocrinologists. All correct to a degree. Yes, my ovaries are polycystic. WHY? Because the eggs I have are not getting released so they just hang around. Yes, my thyroid hormones are abnormal, but when I dig deeper into the results, I realize it is my T3 that is low-the marker of "illness" and "starvation"—so no, I don't have thyroid disease. I caused my hypothalamus to slow down my metabolism to keep me alive, and also to shut down reproduction. Could I believe I have PCOS, take fertility meds and metformin, which lowers sugar, and continue working out like a psycho and eating low carb? Yes, I could. I would love to believe that and continue in my destructive ways ... but in the end I know the truth. I under-ate and worked out every day. I lost weight, was too lean for my body, and lost my periods.

What Is PCOS?

PCOS is a condition in which various hormone levels are not typical. There are a number of ways in which PCOS manifests, and any given person with PCOS can exhibit a different cluster of symptoms. Some issues that are common with PCOS, and the symptoms they elicit, include:

- An excess of "male" hormones like testosterone—leading to unwanted physical side effects like male pattern hair growth (hirsutism) and acne.
- Insulin resistance—the body does not respond appropriately when the hormone insulin is produced to help process sugar (glucose). This leads to more insulin being made to try and overcome this resistance. The continued overproduction can lead to diabetes over time if left untreated.
- Issues with ovulation—abnormal levels of androgens can work to prevent timely release of an egg and lead to issues with fertility.

PCOS is often thought of as a condition associated with being in a larger body because the hormonal imbalances can make it easy to gain and difficult to lose weight. But, about a third of PCOS cases are found in people with a BMI $<25^{3}$. This is sometimes called "lean" or "thin" PCOS, but it's not a different condition and the diagnostic procedures don't vary. The distinction is only based on body size which is a result of fatphobia in the medical field. A larger body size in someone with PCOS may be due to the degree of hormonal imbalance, in turn associated with the degree of long-term concerns; see the "Long-Term Concerns with PCOS" section.

Diagnosing PCOS

Over recent decades there have been a number of attempts to develop standardized criteria for diagnosing PCOS to include all the varied manifestations. The current gold standard was agreed to by the members of a consensus workshop held at the National Institutes of Health (NIH)⁴, and originally put forth by a group of experts in the field⁵. They are often called the "Rotterdam" criteria because the workshop was held in Rotterdam, Netherlands. In order to be diagnosed with PCOS by these criteria, someone needs to exhibit two out of three of the following⁶:

- 1) Polycystic ovaries viewed on ultrasound (P)
- 2) Oligomenorrhea (long periods of time between menstruation) or amenorrhea (no menstruation) (O)
- 3) Hyperandrogenism (excess androgens) (H)

First, to diagnose polycystic ovaries, a transvaginal ultrasound should be performed. The machine needs to be able to scan at 6 MHz (megahertz) or greater in order to properly visualize the small follicles (2 mm to 9 mm) that need to be counted. Doctors who specialize in PCOS are clear that it is not sufficient to take a quick look at the ovaries, see a lot of follicles, and say the ovaries are polycystic⁷. The most recent criteria require more than 25 follicles between 2 mm and 9 mm to be present in each ovary, and/or the ovarian volume (three-dimensional area) must be greater than 10 mL⁸. In PCOS, the follicles are often lined up at the edge of the ovary with a "string of pearls" appearance, although this is not always the case and is not required for the diagnosis.

Steph: When I went for my first ultrasound, the ultrasound technician told me I had polycystic ovaries. I immediately asked her if that meant I had PCOS. She said no, not at all. She told me, "Many women, about 30%, have the appearance of polycystic ovaries but that does not mean they have PCOS."

Second, diagnosing missing or infrequent periods is the easy part; that is just based on a verbal history from you. A missing period is obvious—you

just don't bleed. With PCOS, periods can occasionally be normal, but more commonly cycles are either irregular (coming at varied intervals), and/or infrequent (more than 35 days in between periods). However, if it's a question of PCOS versus HA, you're obviously coming to the doctor with absent periods.

Finally, diagnosing hyperandrogenism. This gets a little trickier as not all androgens will necessarily be elevated when one has PCOS. Below, we show some of the hormones (including androgens) that might be tested, along with results that commonly point to PCOS. The more severe the PCOS, the more hormones are elevated, and to a higher degree.

Hormone	Normal result*	Expected value with PCOS
FSH	3.0–20.0 IU/L	Low-normal to normal
LH	2.0–5.0 IU/L	Normal to high-normal (greater than FSH)
Estradiol (E ₂)	20–150 pg/mL	Normal to high
Sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG)	40–120 nmol/L	Low to normal
Total testosterone	2–45 ng/dL	Normal to high
Free testosterone (T)	0.1–6.4 pg/mL	Normal to high
Free androgen index (FAI)	7–10	Normal to high
DHEAS	Age 20–29: 65–380 ug/dL Age 30–39: 45–270 ug/dL	Normal to high
Androstenedione	28–230 ng/dL	Normal to high
Anti-Mullerian Hor- mone (AMH) ²	>4.2ng/mL (automated assay) >5.6 ng/mL (manual assay)	High

Hormonal levels in PCOS

* We have listed standard ranges. You should ask for the reference ranges from the laboratory that performed your testing in order to compare your results.

There are also physical symptoms of hyperandrogenism that should be evaluated by your physician (next page).

The different criteria met will affect the ease of the diagnosis. If there is hyperandrogenism (H) along with oligo/amenorrhea (O) and/or polycystic ovaries (P), a diagnosis of PCOS can be made (assuming other similarly presenting conditions are excluded). It becomes a bit blurrier from our perspective when a patient presents with O + P only, as these are the same symptoms that someone with HA may exhibit¹⁰. In this case, the diagnostic

criteria specifically state that HA must be excluded before making a diagnosis of PCOS¹¹.

Symptom	Normal	PCOS	Frequency in PCOS
Hirsutism (FG Score)*	Score < 6	Score $\geq = 6$	21-76% ¹²
Acne	Perhaps some facial acne	Facial and chest/upper back, not responsive to standard treatments	50-58% 13
Androgenic alopecia (scalp hair loss)	Not present	Sometimes present	16% ^{<u>14</u>}
Acanthosis nigricans (skin darkening / texture changes)	Not present	Sometimes present	23% ¹⁵

Physical symptoms in PCOS

*Hirsutism can be quantitated through a "<u>Ferriman-Gallwey (FG) score</u>," in which the amount of hair on nine different areas of the body is graded on a scale of 0 to 5, and then the sum is taken¹⁶. The cutoffs for a "normal" score range from 5 to 8, depending on the investigator.

When PCOS Is Actually HA

As we just mentioned, the category of PCOS that consists of amenorrhea and polycystic ovaries (O + P) shares the same symptoms as HA. In fact, somewhere between 15% and 55% of those with HA have multi-follicular or polycystic ovaries¹⁷, and obviously, missing periods. Doctors may diagnosis PCOS based on an ultrasound, along with amenorrhea, without understanding the precise requirements needed to qualify as polycystic ovaries (outlined earlier). In one recent study, if the PCOS diagnostic criteria were applied and HA not considered, 86% of those with HA would have been diagnosed with PCOS¹⁸. This makes it important to confirm a diagnosis of PCOS via methods other than ultrasound. The best way to do this is by looking at blood work and physical symptoms.

The next table compares blood work results if one has PCOS with what is expected in someone with HA. There are a couple of key differences between the two conditions hormonally. First, LH is almost always lower than normal in those with HA, although occasionally it is normal. With PCOS, LH will at least be normal and is often elevated to two to three times FSH¹⁹. Second, E_2 is also often low in HA, but normal to high with PCOS. Finally, androgen levels will be normal with HA but are commonly elevated with PCOS, especially free testosterone (T) or Free Androgen Index (FAI)²⁰. If your blood work picture is HA-like and doesn't include any elevated androgens, it becomes much less likely that you have PCOS. Also, be aware that Anti-Mullerian Hormone (AMH) is being tested more frequently, with a high level thought to be associated with PCOS. However, people with HA often have similarly high levels so this can not be used to distinguish the two conditions²¹. Interestingly, HA can also be associated with quite low AMH values; see the HAers with low AMH table in <u>Chapter 20</u>, "When <u>You Need a Jumpstart</u>."

Hormone	Normal result*	Expected value in HA	Expected value in PCOS
FSH	3.0–20.0 IU/L	Low to normal (around 6 IU/ mL)	Low-normal to normal
LH	2.0–15.0 IU/L	Low to normal, less than FSH	Normal to high-normal, greater than FSH
E ₂	20–150 pg/ mL	Low to normal	Normal to high
Total T	2–45 ng/dL	Low to normal	Normal to high
Free T	0.1–6.4 pg/ mL	Low to normal	Normal to high
Free Androgen Index (FAI)	7–10	Low to normal	Normal to high
DHEAS	Age 20–29: 65–380 ug/ dL Age 30–39: 45–270 ug/ dL	Low to normal	Normal to high
androstenedione	28–230 ng/ dL	Low to normal	Normal to high

Hormonal levels in HA and PCOS

* We have listed standard ranges. You should ask for the reference ranges from the laboratory that performed your testing in order to compare your results.

The next table compares the physical symptoms. Keep in mind that "hirsutism" does not mean a couple of extra stray hairs here or there (we all have those). The hirsutism associated with PCOS is a much greater degree of <u>excess hairiness</u>. And "acne" does not mean a few pimples on your face; with PCOS, severe acne on both the face and other body parts, and often resistant to prescription treatments, is common. The presence of these symptoms may well suggest PCOS, but without them, again, HA is more likely the correct diagnosis.

Symptom	HA	PCOS	
Hirsutism (FG Score)	Score is 0–5	$Score \ge 6$	
Acne	Some facial; sometimes in- creased with weight gain	Facial and chest/upper back; often resistant to treatment	
Androgenic alopecia (scalp hair loss)	Not present, although hair can be brittle	Sometimes present	
Acanthosis nigricans (skin darkening/ texture changes)	Not present	Sometimes present	

Physical symptoms in HA and PCOS

Finally, lifestyle habits play a big part in correctly diagnosing HA over PCOS. If a number of the criteria below describe you and your habits, HA is much more likely than PCOS.

- being in a smaller than average body (although as we have discussed, HA does occur in those who are not "underweight")
- recent significant weight loss (>10 lb)
- a history of a larger weight loss (>10% of bodyweight)
- recent increase in exercise time or intensity, such as adding a few Zumba classes, or training for a race
- frequent high intensity exercise, e.g., more than one hour/day, multiple days of the week
- running
- low caloric intake on a regular basis (<14 kcal/lb/day)²²
- a diet restricting certain food groups (e.g., low carb or low fat)

Among our survey respondents, 15% were diagnosed with PCOS by a doctor, and another 20% were told PCOS was a possibility. Unfortunately, we do not have sufficient data to make an assessment of whether these diagnoses met the criteria we are suggesting here. However, we can tell you that of those who reported blood work results, androgens were only tested in 45%, and elevated in less than half of those. This implies that in many instances the diagnosis of PCOS was based solely on lack of periods and the appearance of the ovaries on ultrasound examination, therefore HA was much more likely the correct call. Among our survey respondents, those diagnosed with PCOS regained cycles at a similar frequency after following the Recovery Plan, with very similar weight gains compared with those not diagnosed with PCOS. This supports the argument that their amenorrhea was likely caused by HA.

Nadia: I was diagnosed with PCOS. It was something I fought for over five years before I found a doctor who knew what HA was. She told me I likely never had PCOS and that it was possible that thinking I did (and changing the way I ate and exercised because I thought I did) made my HA worse. With my diet I had gone low carb: very limited starches, limited fruit, limited sugar, no gluten, and lower fat. I exercised daily for no less than 30 min, and often close to an hour. It was a lot of cardio (walking), but also weight training. (Nadia's PCOS was subsequently confirmed by two different endocrinologists, but she was still able to conquer HA and regain her cycles by three months of consistent, "all in" work toward recovery.)

While it is true that many who are told they have "lean" PCOS probably have HA instead, it is also possible for an individual to have both PCOS and HA. The PCOS hormonal imbalances are not hypothalamus-derived, so they can be present at the same time the hypothalamus is shutting down the reproductive system because of underfueling, stress, or overexercising. In general it seems HA trumps PCOS; that is, if both are present, the hormonal and physical picture will be more HA-like. Once an individual is recovering or recovered from HA, more PCOS-like symptoms may become apparent²³, both biochemical (e.g., blood work) and physical. Although in many cases the appearance of PCOS-like symptoms after HA recovery is only temporary²⁴.

To reiterate, if all your blood work is normal, and your doctor just noted there were "a lot" of follicles in your ovaries (possibly without counting them), PCOS may not be the correct diagnosis.

Does It Matter If I Have PCOS or HA?

As far as getting pregnant goes, there aren't huge differences in recommended methods for HA versus PCOS; one can usually try naturally (perhaps with additional supplements that will be discussed in the "<u>I definitely</u> <u>have PCOS</u>" section) if cycles are restored, or use oral medications, injectables, or IVF. The biggest concern with multifollicular or polycystic ovaries is that the more follicles one has, the greater likelihood there is for ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) if injectables or IVF are used. OHSS is a complication of fertility treatments in which your ovaries become very swollen, and in severe cases leads to fluid buildup in your abdomen and chest, sometimes requiring hospitalization. Doctors should be mindful of the possibility of OHSS when choosing dosages for these treatments with high numbers of follicles. For more discussion on the possible ovulation induction methods and avoiding OHSS, read <u>chapters 20 through 23</u>. Much of what we discuss in those chapters is applicable to both HA and PCOS.

Where the diagnosis matters most is in recommendations for lifestyle modifications. Typically, those with PCOS are told to exercise more and eat less, which has been found in some cases to reduce the hormonal effects of PCOS²⁵ (although long-term compliance is a serious issue with these recommendations, and many "Health At Every Size" dietitians now work with people to reduce symptoms without specifically working toward weight loss). However, this is the exact opposite of what one needs to do to recover from HA, so receiving the correct diagnosis is important.

Jessica O: After a year of unsuccessfully trying to conceive (TTC), my doctor ran a bunch of tests and did an ultrasound. Everything was normal, except that the ultrasound showed ovarian cysts. So, they diagnosed me with PCOS and put me on metformin. I actually ended up getting pregnant the very next month. I don't know if the metformin helped, or if it was just the fact that it was over the holidays, so I was eating more and exercising less than usual. At any rate, I lost the pregnancy fairly early on. After that, I decided to get serious about treating my supposed PCOS, so I went on a low carb diet, lost some weight, and became obsessed with getting my daily workouts in. Surprise, surprise; at that point, I developed full-blown HA. My doctors continued to assume that my problems were caused by PCOS and no one knew why things were getting worse rather than better. It was an incredibly frustrating experience. I was never actually diagnosed with HA, but when I found Nico's blog and the Board, it all started to make sense. I gained weight, cut back on exercise, and regained my cycle.

Katherine: Don't get sucked into the "maybe I have PCOS and can exercise as much as I want" trap. Been there, doesn't work.

HA and PCOS??

There is a small group who have both HA and PCOS, as we described earlier²⁶. When HA is active, they exhibit the classical symptoms of HA—low LH and E_2 , often along with the physical issues like being cold all the time, low libido, night sweats, brittle hair and nails, etc. Once they recover from HA by eating more and exercising less, their hormonal profile swings to be more PCOS-like, with perhaps an LH level that is higher than FSH, and a higher E₂, along with increased androgens and possibly physical manifestations of PCOS²². The latent PCOS may prevent cycles from returning to normal even after recovery from the HA component. Amenorrhea may persist, or cycles can continue to be lengthy and/or irregular. So, treatment may still be needed to induce ovulation for pregnancy, despite HA recovery. It is worth noting that in some folks LH increases to more than FSH with no other symptoms of PCOS. In these cases we suggest waiting a few months and retesting, as the increased LH may simply be a consequence of the hypothalamus overshooting and speeding up too much²⁸.

Grace: I was diagnosed with both PCOS and HA. My doctor did extensive testing to confirm that I had both. I did all of the ultrasounds and hormone testing, but he also had me completely cut out exercise for a while and then add it back in to see how my hormone profiles adjusted. When I cut out exercise, the labs showed more of a PCOS profile, but when I added it back, all levels were low, an HA profile. I also have the cystic ovaries and abnormal hair growth.

If it turns out that you do have PCOS in addition to HA, it can be a discouraging realization, especially if you have already worked to recover from HA. You may question everything you've done—did you make things worse by gaining weight and not exercising as much? You might feel like the only thing you've accomplished is to go from one problem to another.

That is not the case! If you have PCOS masked by HA, and want to get pregnant, you have two issues to overcome—first the HA, then the PCOS. Once you recover from HA, the first and overriding issue, your likelihood of ovulating on your own is higher. If you aren't able to ovulate on your own and need help from treatment, your chances of responding are significantly better when you are not trying to work around both an energy deficit and the issues caused by PCOS.

Liz: I cycled regularly for two years (age 13–15). Then my periods started to become slightly irregular and I got some PCOS symptoms without any dietary changes. Then I started restricting, and boom, my period was nowhere to be seen. I definitely have PCOS-like symptoms now, but I started cycling for the first time in forever when I started eating a normal amount of calories for the amount of energy I expend (and being more intuitive and not restricting). I also take some herbs and vitamins, but I

did this throughout the years, and until I completely stopped restricting and gained weight I did not have a period. My thinking I had PCOS absolutely contributed to my restriction. Even after I got my eating disorder under control, I was obsessed with maintaining a certain weight and never letting myself gain, even if it meant eating very little, thinking I was controlling my PCOS when actually I was preventing myself from cycling. (*After many years of visits to endocrinologists, a 17-OH-progesterone test showed that Liz has late-onset congenital adrenal hyperplasia, a condition that manifests similarly to PCOS.*)

Shayla: I was diagnosed with HA in July 2011 and didn't commit to making true, significant changes until the end of the year. Between July and December, I would throw in an intense spin class or exercise a couple days harder than I should have. December is when I got real with myself and realized that I needed to commit to a lessened exercise routine in order to see results (four to five days per week, 40 minutes max, walking or easy elliptical). From July 2011 to January 2012, I got my weight up to a place where my body was happy. And while I haven't gotten a natural period because I have hormonal PCOS, I know I recovered from HA since I tried Provera a couple weeks ago and got a significant, heavy bleed from it—marked improvement since I had failed it in July 2011. So all in all, with significant changes made around December and my weight to a better place for me by January, now I'm responding to treatment. I'd say it took me about three to four months. And to be honest, what every single person has said here is absolutely true. For a while last year, I was in denial about it all, but if you really commit to gaining, eating fats, and lowering your exercise, you WILL respond to treatment or get your period naturally. (Shayla got pregnant with her son on her second round of Femara. Her second child, a daughter, was naturally conceived)

I Definitely Have PCOS

If you have PCOS and not HA masquerading as PCOS, the obvious next question is, now what? There are two areas of concern: 1) management of the syndrome (perhaps with future pregnancy in mind), and 2) longer-term health issues associated with PCOS. We are far from experts on PCOS, but recent research we discuss below suggests some avenues for you to consider and explore.

Lifestyle modifications, medications, and nutritional supplements can potentially help manage PCOS by:

- · lowering androgen levels
- improving insulin resistance
- promoting ovulation (if cycles were absent or irregular), which can lead to pregnancy
- perhaps improving ovarian morphology

Discussing all the possible alternatives to help with these symptoms is beyond the scope of this book. We will cover a few options here; we recommend finding a "<u>Health at Every Size</u>" dietitian to help manage symptoms without focusing on losing weight, along with having a conversation with your doctor about what (if any) treatment plan is most appropriate for you. You may want to visit the website "SoulCysters: Women with PCOS Speak from the Heart" (<u>www.soulcysters.com</u>) to learn more.

First, lifestyle modifications. Weight loss and exercise use to be commonly recommended to manage complications such as insulin resistance that seem to possibly respond to such interventions (although long term benefits are unclear²⁰), however, as stated, some dietitians are working with patients to manage symptoms without focusing on weight. It does seem that exercise in moderation can be beneficial. If you have an HA/PCOS combo, keep in mind that reduced exercise is needed in the short term for recovery from HA (chapter 12, "The HA Recovery Plan: Exercise Changes"); it can be added (slowly!) in the longer term as your HA recovery stabilizes. After you work on recovery and achieve a natural cycle, we encourage you to continue with your new, improved lifestyle for at least three months before you consider making any changes, like changing eating patterns or increasing exercise. That way, you allow your body to trust that you are not going to return to an energy deficit. Those who have immediately added exercise or cut calories once regaining their cycles have been much less regular than folks who waited for at least the recommended three months. Once you've got a few natural cycles under your belt and you decide to make changes, incorporate them slowly and pay attention to your cycles to note any effects (chapter 16, "Recovering Natural Cycles").

A different lifestyle approach that has showed improvements in PCOS symptoms involves changing the timing of meals. Women with PCOS were put on a meal plan in which they consumed 54% of their calories at breakfast, between 6:00 and 9:00 a.m., 35% at lunch (noon to 3:00 p.m.), and only 11% at dinner (6:00 to 9:00 p.m.)³⁰. Their diets were also high in protein, at 0.64g/lb, which reportedly helped them to feel full and satisfied throughout the day. After three months, hormones were normalized

(androgens and insulin decreased, sex hormone-binding globulin increased) to the same extent as when the medication metformin (a standard PCOS treatment) was used (see <u>table on p. 14</u>). In addition, more frequent ovulations were observed, commencing between one and three months after dietary changes were implemented. The more frequent ovulations are clearly helpful when one is trying to conceive. There are no long-term follow-up studies, but there are few concerns with side effects from a dietary change like this.

It may feel overwhelming to consider making breakfast your biggest meal of the day, especially if you had/have to modify your eating patterns significantly in order to recover from HA. So if this is something that interests you, perhaps you could start by adding more protein to your breakfast and making that a higher calorie meal, without going as far as making it more than half of your calories for the day.

A second option for managing symptoms of PCOS is medication. Metformin is a standard treatment for PCOS that reduces the amount of glucose produced by the liver. As a side effect, it also improves some of the other hormonal and physical symptoms of PCOS (see <u>table</u>). However, metformin can cause gastrointestinal discomfort and weight loss, which is not recommended for those who have or had HA.

A third solution to ameliorate PCOS symptoms is nutritional supplementation, including d-chiro-inositol and/or myo-inositol³¹. These dietary supplements are readily available at health food stores. The <u>table on the</u> <u>next page</u> includes data on reductions in androgens and insulin sensitivity in individuals taking a 40:1 combination of myo and d-chiro-inositol.

Recent research has found that both myo- and d-chiro-inositol can help normalize insulin response and hormones by acting on different tissues³². Myo-insoitol plays a role in glucose uptake, and is active in ovarian tissue, also affecting FSH/LH ratios. D-chiro-inositol affects glycogen synthesis and is active in tissue outside the ovary, mediating insulin-related androgen production.

A study that compared different ratios of myo- to d-chiro-inositol found strong support for a 40:1 ratio³³. This ratio has also been found to be optimal in other research³⁴, and is therefore our suggestion as a supplement to take to potentially help reduce PCOS symptoms (once again with a reminder to discuss with your personal physician).

Treatment	50% of calo- ries at break- fast ³⁵	Metformin ³⁶	D-chiro- inositol ³⁷
Study Duration	3 months*	6 months*	6–8 weeks*
Free Testosterone	-50%	-67%	-73%
DHEAS	-35%	-23%	-49%
Androstenedione	-34%	NR	-27%
SHBG†	116%	-13%	138%
Fasting insulin	-53%	-61%	-36%
	% ovulating	g in test group (% ir	n control group)
First month	0% (0%)	0% (0%)	60% (0%)
Second month	28% (7.6%)	10% (0%)	NA (20%)
Third month	50% (20%)	50% (5%)	NA
Months 4-6	NA	95%	NA

Effects of PCOS treatment options on hormones and ovulation.

* Note: Negative numbers indicate decreases in listed hormones

⁺ Sex hormone-binding globulin, used in calculation of free androgen index (FAI); an increase yields a lower, improved FAI. (FAI = 100 * Total T / SHBG)

NR = Not reported

NA = Not applicable (e.g., study too short)

Long-term Concerns With PCOS

When you are diagnosed with PCOS, you probably also hear about the potential long-term complications: diabetes, heart disease, and cancer. By now you may feel weary—yet more health issues to worry about, on top of the issues from HA. Let's take these long-term issues one by one. First, the criteria for a diagnosis of metabolic syndrome (MetS), which is thought to be the precursor to diabetes and heart disease, are three out of five of the following³⁸.

- high waist circumference (> 35 inches)
- triglycerides > 150 mg/dL
- high-density lipoprotein-C (HDL-C) $\leq 50 \text{ mg/dL}$
- blood pressure > 130/85
- a fasting and 2-hour glucose reading from a glucose tolerance test > 110mg/dL and > 140mg / dL respectively

Although studies have suggested a link between PCOS and cardiovascular disease based on blood work (e.g., high cholesterol), the clinical research

to date does not support a strong association³⁹. The cardiovascular risk is based on insulin resistance being associated with greater susceptibility to the disease, as well as abnormal processing of cholesterol and other lipids. Additionally, the two factors most correlated with risk of cardiovascular disease are an abdominal waist measurement greater than 35 inches and an above normal non-HDL cholesterol. Your doctor should gauge your risks by assessing your psychosocial stress, blood pressure, glucose, lipid profile (cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL, LDL, and non-HDL cholesterol), waist circumference, physical activity, nutrition, and smoking⁴⁰. If the results suggest an increased risk, you can work together to develop a plan for the future. Note that both metformin and the inositols reduce insulin resistance and can therefore help mitigate some of these other issues as well, however most studies performed to date have been short term (12 weeks to 12 months), so the longer term effect of these treatments is yet to be determined⁴¹.

The final potential long-term consequence of PCOS that has been suggested is endometrial cancer (cancer in the lining of the uterus). Many studies have been performed through the years with conflicting results; a recent analysis of multiple studies found a possibly three-fold increased risk in women with PCOS⁴² (9% versus 2-3% in the overall population). However, the criteria used for PCOS diagnosis were not high quality in all studies. Theories attribute the increased risk to⁴³:

- uterine lining buildup because of high estrogen, with irregular shedding due to oligomenorrhea or amenorrhea
- increased levels of LH (and receptors for LH in the cancerous cells)
- increased levels of insulin (and receptors for insulin in uterine lining), increased levels of leptin, and decreased levels of adiponectin, all associated with fat mass
- · increased estrogen due to high insulin levels

If you do *not* have increased LH, estrogen, or insulin⁴⁴, your risk of endometrial cancer is unlikely to be higher. Most hormonally-driven endometrial carcinomas seem to derive from long-term higher estrogen exposure without progesterone in opposition. With the estrogen level of <20 to 30 typically seen with HA the uterine lining remains thin and therefore not of concern. If your estrogen levels are higher and your uterine lining does build up without a regular bleed, you could talk to your doctor about using progesterone pills or cream to shed the lining from time to time⁴⁵. Regardless, PCOS-related endometrial cancer is slow to develop and often found at an early stage due to abnormal (mid-cycle or post-menopausal) bleeding in middle-aged or older people, so if you and your doctor are aware of your potential risk and maintain vigilance, you should be able to catch it early and treat it.

Again, these side effects do not occur in everyone with PCOS, and if they do manifest, the symptoms are usually mild in those who formerly had HA.

In Summary: PCOS or HA?

We know many who were given a diagnosis of PCOS because they were not getting their periods and had "polycystic-looking ovaries." With no other symptoms or corroborating blood work, and especially with other HA risk factors in play, PCOS is almost certainly not the correct diagnosis. Instead, it is much more likely you have HA. Many healthcare professionals seem to be unaware that research shows a high proportion of those with HA exhibiting polycystic-like ovaries. It is also possible to have both HA and PCOS. In this case, one needs to work to overcome HA first and then potentially (and slowly) make dietary and exercise changes to help manage PCOS symptoms. Do not let a possible PCOS diagnosis lure you into thinking that restrictive eating and excessive exercise habits are a wise choice. If what we have described in earlier chapters rings true for you, please give the HA Recovery Plan in part 2 ("The Recovery Plan—Changing Your Habits and Your Life") a try and see what happens.

Lisa: I know... the possibility of PCOS on top of having HA adds to the confusion and concern, and certainly doesn't make your decisions any easier. These frustrations among those with HA/PCOS have been echoed repeatedly, so know you are not alone. With that being said, what we *don't* want to see happen is for you to start waving the "I have PCOS, not HA" flag, derailing you off the track for HA recovery. (Can you tell we have heard that?) I only caution you because I can assure you that if I had a possible diagnosis of PCOS, you can bet your bottom dollar that I would not have decreased exercise and gained weight in order to recover. Heck no! And on top of that, I am certain doctors would have recommended not gaining weight because of my "average" BMI. Only you know deep down if there is a possibility that restrictive eating and/or exercise are contributing factors to your HA, muddying the waters of a PCOS diagnosis. There is only one way to find out and, again, it's temporary and totally within your control. So at this point you have possibly begun to consider that you might have both PCOS and HA and have chosen to press on with the HA solution; or you are concerned that you might have only PCOS and not HA and sure don't want to risk lifestyle changes for "what ifs." No one can tell you which path to take, but what we can do is give you a few things to think about.

- 1) If you press on with HA recovery and do indeed have both HA and PCOS, you will then only be dealing with PCOS, as opposed to both, and get all the benefits from option 2 below.
- 2) If you press on with HA recovery and do not have PCOS but only HA, then YAY! You will recover, your bones will likely increase in density, your brain and heart will be in tiptop shape, you will cycle regularly, and if you decide to make babies you will now have that option.
- 3) If you press on with HA recovery and don't actually have HA but do have PCOS then you should play the lottery because I doubt that will happen. Yet let's just say it's a possibility. Your choice.

For More Information...

We would like to thank <u>Kate Albarella RD, LDN</u> for reviewing and providing feedback on this chapter. She is a dietitian who works with people with PCOS; if you find that you DO have PCOS, please consider working with her. <u>TheDietitianKate@gmail.com</u>

Consult with Dr. Nicola Sykes, PhD: http://noperiod.info/appointments

Visit www.NoPeriodNowWhat.com

for more information and <u>blog posts</u> on a variety of topics. Find our Support Group at <u>http://noperiod.info/Support</u>, support for getting pregnant at <u>http://noperiod.info/TTC</u>, and follow on <u>Instagram @NoPeriodNowWhat</u>

References

- <u>Azziz R, et al.</u> "The Prevalence and Features of the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome in an Unselected Population." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 89(6) 2004: 2745-749. doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2003-032046</u>; **March WA, et al.** "The Prevalence of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome in a Community Sample Assessed under Contrasting Diagnostic Criteria." *Human Reproduction.* 25(2) 2010: 544-51. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/dep399</u>
- Lauritsen MP, et al. "Revised criteria for PCOS in WHO Group II anovulatory infertility - a revival of hypothalamic amenorrhoea?" Clinical Endocrinology. 82(4) 2015: 584-91. doi: 10.1111/cen.12621
- 3. Azziz R, et al. 2004. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-032046
- Johnson TRB, et al. "Evidence-Based Methodology Workshop on Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." Bethesda, Maryland: National Institutes of Health, 2012. <u>http://prevention.nih.gov/workshops/2012/pcos/docs/FinalReport.pdf</u>
- <u>Rotterdam ESHRE</u>/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group.
 "Revised 2003 Consensus on Diagnostic Criteria and Long-term Health Risks Related to Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS)." *Human Reproduction*. 19(1) 2004: 41-47. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh098
- 6. <u>Ibid.</u>
- Balen AH, et al. "Ultrasound Assessment of the Polycystic Ovary: International Consensus Definitions." *Human Reproduction Update*. 9(6) 2003: 505-14. doi: <u>10.1093/</u> <u>humupd/dmg044</u>;

Dewailly D, et al. "Definition and Significance of Polycystic Ovarian Morphology: A Task Force Report from the Androgen Excess and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Society." *Human Reproduction Update.* 20(3) 2014: 334-52. doi: <u>10.1093/humupd/dmt061</u>

 Dewailly D, et al. 2014. doi: <u>10.1093/humupd/dmt061</u>;
 Lujan ME, et al. "Updated Ultrasound Criteria for Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Reliable Thresholds for Elevated Follicle Population and Ovarian Volume." *Human Reproduction.* 28(5) 2013: 1361-368. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/det062</u>

- Pigny P, et al. "Comparative assessment of five serum antimüllerian hormone assays for the diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome." *Fertility and Sterility*. 105(4) 2016: 1063-69.e3. doi: <u>10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.12.023</u>
- Liang SJ, et al. "Clinical and Biochemical Presentation of Polycystic Ovary Sydrome in Women between the Ages of 20 and 40." *Human Reproduction*. 26(12) 2011: 3443-449. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/der302</u>;

Azziz R, et al. 2004. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-032046;

Azziz R, et al. "Criteria for Defining Polycystic Ovary Syndrome as a Predominantly Hyperandrogenic Syndrome: An Androgen Excess Society Guideline." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 91(11) 2006: 4237-245. doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2006-0178</u>; **Sivayoganathan D, et al.** "Full Investigation of Patients with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) Presenting to Four Different Clinical Specialties Reveals Significant Differences and Undiagnosed Morbidity." *Human Fertility.* 14(4) 2011: 261-65. doi: <u>10.3109/14647273.2011.632058</u> 11. Liang SJ, et al. 2011. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der302;

Sivayoganathan D, et al. 2011. doi: <u>10.3109/14647273.2011.632058</u>; Fauser BC, et al. "Consensus on Women's Health Aspects of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS): The Amsterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored 3rd PCOS Consensus Workshop Group." *Fertility & Sterilility*. 97(1) 2012: 28-38. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>fertnstert.2011.09.024</u>

12. Sivayoganathan D, et al. 2011. doi: 10.3109/14647273.2011.632058

- 14. <u>Ferriman D, Gallwey JD.</u> "Clinical Assessment Of Body Hair Growth In Women." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 21(11) 1961: 1440-447. doi: <u>10.1210/jcem-21-11-1440</u>
- Kar, S. "Anthropometric, Clinical, and Metabolic Comparisons of the Four Rotterdam PCOS Phenotypes: A Prospective Study of PCOS Women." *Journal of Human Reproductive Sciences.* 6(3) 2013: 194. doi: <u>10.4103/0974-1208.121422</u>
- 16. <u>Rotterdam ESHRE</u>/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. 2004. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/deh098</u>
- <u>Robin G, et al.</u> "Polycystic Ovary-Like Abnormalities (PCO-L) in Women with Functional Hypothalamic Amenorrhea." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 97(11) 2012: 4236-243. doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2012-1836</u>;

Falsetti, L. "Long-term Follow-up of Functional Hypothalamic Amenorrhea and Prognostic Factors." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 87(2) 2002): 500-05. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8195

- Bradbury RA, Lee P, Smith HC. "Elevated anti-Mullerian hormone in lean women may not indicate polycystic ovarian syndrome." The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 57(5) 2017: 552-7. doi: 10.1111/ajo.12647
- Moret M, et al. "Insulin Modulation of Luteinizing Hormone Secretion in Normal Female Volunteers and Lean Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Patients." *Neuroendocrinology*. 89(2) 2009: 131-39. doi: <u>10.1159/000160911</u>;

Taylor AE, et al. "Determinants of Abnormal Gonadotropin Secretion in Clinically Defined Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* & *Metabolism.* 82(7) 1997: 2248-256. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.7.4105

- 20.Azziz R, et al. 2006: 4237-245. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0178
- 21. Bradbury RA, Lee P, Smith HC. 2017. doi: 10.1111/ajo.12647
- 22. Loucks AB, Thuma JR. "Luteinizing Hormone Pulsatility Is Disrupted at a Threshold of Energy Availability in Regularly Menstruating Women." The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 88(1) 2003: 297-311. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020369
- 23. Wang JG, Lobo RA. "The Complex Relationship between Hypothalamic Amenorrhea and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 93(4) 2008: 1394-397. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1716;
 Robin G, et al. 2012. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-1836
- 24.<u>Carmina E, Fruzzetti F, Lobo RA.</u> "Features of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) in women with functional hypothalamic amenorrhea (FHA) may be reversible with recovery of menstrual function." *Gynecological Endocrinology.* 34(4) 2018: 301-4. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2017.1395842

^{13. &}lt;u>Ibid.</u>

- 25. <u>Haqq L, et al.</u> "Effect of lifestyle intervention on the reproductive endocrine profile in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis." *Endocrine Connections.* 3(1) 2014: 36-46. doi: 10.1530/EC-14-0010
- 26. Wang JG, Lobo RA. 2008. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1716;
 Robin G, et al. 2012. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-1836;
 Sum M, Warren MP. "Hypothalamic Amenorrhea in Young Women with Underlying Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *Fertility and Sterility*. 92(6) 2009. doi: 10.1016/j. fertnstert.2009.05.063
- 27.<u>Wang JG, Lobo RA.</u> 2008. doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2007-1716;</u> Sum M, Warren MP. 2009. doi: <u>10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.05.063</u>
- 28. <u>Thompson IA, Kaiser UB.</u> "GnRH Pulse Frequency-dependent Differential Regulation of LH and FSH Gene Expression." Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 385(1-2) 2014: 28-35. doi: <u>10.1016/j.mce.2013.09.012</u>
- 29.<u>Haqq L, et al.</u> 2014 doi: <u>10.1530/EC-14-0010</u>
- 30. Jakubowicz D, et al. "Effects of Caloric Intake Timing on Insulin Resistance and Hyperandrogenism in Lean Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *Clinical Science*. 125(9) 2013: 423-32. doi: 10.1042/CS20130071
- 31. <u>Minozzi M, Nordio M, Pajalich R.</u> "The Combined Therapy Myo-inositol plus D-Chiro-inositol, in a Physiological Ratio, Reduces the Cardiovascular Risk by Improving the Lipid Profile in PCOS Patients." *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences.* 17(4) 2013: 537-40. <u>http://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/537-540.pdf;</u>

Isabella R, Raffone E. "Does Ovary Need D-chiro-inositol?" *Journal of Ovarian Research.* 5(1) 2012: 14-20. doi: <u>10.1186/1757-2215-5-14</u>; **Iuorno MJ, et al.** 2002. doi: <u>10.4158/EP.8.6.417</u>

32. Nordio M, Basciani S, Camajani E. "The 40:1 myo-inositol/D-chiro-inositol plasma ratio is able to restore ovulation in PCOS patients: comparison with other ratios." *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* 23(12) 2019: 5512-5521. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201906_18223; Roseff S, Montenegro M. "Inositol Treatment for PCOS Should Be Science-Based and Not Arbitrary." *Int J Endocrinol.* 2020 Mar 27: 6461254. doi: 10.1155/2020/6461254;

Monastra G et al. "Combining treatment with myo-inositol and D-chiro-inositol (40:1) is effective in restoring ovary function and metabolic balance in PCOS patients." *Gynecol Endocrinol.* 33(1) 2019:1-9. doi: <u>10.1080/09513590.2016.1247797</u>

- 33. Nordio M, Basciani S, Camajani E. 2019. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201906_18223
- 34. Roseff S, Montenegro M. 2020. doi: 10.1155/2020/6461254
- 35. Jakubowicz D, et al. 2013. doi: 10.1042/CS20130071
- 36. <u>Baillargeon J, et al.</u> "Effects of Metformin and Rosiglitazone, Alone and in Combination, in Nonobese Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and Normal Indices of Insulin Sensitivity." *Fertility and Sterility.* 82(4) 2004: 893-902. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>fertnstert.2004.02.127</u>
- 37. <u>Iuorno MJ, et al.</u> "Effects Of D-Chiro-Inositol In Lean Women With The Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *Endocrine Practice*. 8(6) 2002: 417-23. doi: <u>10.4158/EP.8.6.417</u>

- 38. <u>Shroff R, et al.</u> "Risk of Metabolic Complications in the New PCOS Phenotypes Based on the Rotterdam Criteria." *Fertility and Sterility*. 88(5) 2007: 1389-395. doi: <u>10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.01.03</u>
- <u>Bates GW, Legro RS.</u> "Longterm Management of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome (PCOS)." *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*. 373(1-2) 2013: 91-97. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> mce.2012.10.029;

Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. 2004. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/deh098</u>;

Fauser BC, et al. 2012: 28-38. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.09.024

- 40. Fauser BC, et al. 2012: 28-38. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.09.024
- 41. Kamenov Z, Gateva A. "Inositols in PCOS." *Molecules*. 2020; 25(23):5566. doi: <u>10.3390/molecules25235566;</u>

Kim, CH, Chon, SJ & Lee, SH. "Effects of lifestyle modification in polycystic ovary syndrome compared to metformin only or metformin addition: A systematic review and meta-analysis." *Sci Rep* 2020 10: 7802 doi: <u>10.1038/s41598-020-64776-w</u>

- 42. <u>Haoula Z, Salman M, Atiomo W.</u> "Evaluating the Association between Endometrial Cancer and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome." *Human Reproduction* 27(5) 2012: 1327-331. doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/des042</u>
- 43. <u>Hardiman P, Pillay OS, Atiomo W.</u> "Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and Endometrial Carcinoma." *The Lancet* 361(9371) 2003: 1810-812. doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13409-5</u>
- 44. <u>Ibid.</u>
- 45. Dr. Phoebe Holmes-Juck email to Dr. Nicola Rinaldi on January 20, 2014.

Contents of Complete Book

List of Illustrations List of Tables Prologue

Part 1: Hypothalamic Amenorrhea Nuts and Bolts

1. No Period?

2. Factors in HA: What You Eat

3. Factors in HA: Exercise and Stress

4. Diagnosis

5. Hypothalama-WHAT??

6. The HA/PCOS Conundrum

7. Brittle Bones and Other Health

Consequences of HA

Part 2:

The Recovery Plan— Changing Your Habits and Your Life

8. You Want Me to Eat WHAT?? The HA Recovery Plan

9. Putting Recovery Into Practice

10. What to Expect

11. Expanding ... Mentally and Physically

12. The HA Recovery Plan: Exercise Changes

13. There Is More to Life Than Exercise

14. Running Toward Recovery

15. Partners in Recovery

16. Recovering Natural Cycles

17. Tracking Ovulation and Family Planning

18. Still No Period?!

19. Luteal Phase

Part 3: When it Takes More Than an "Oops" to Get Pregnant

20. When You Need a Jump-start

21. Popping Pills to Ovulate: Oral Medications

22. Shooting up: Injectables

23. Medicated Ovulation and Beyond

24. In Vitro Fertilization

Part 4: What Comes Next?

25. I'm Pregnant-Now What??

26. Miscarriage

27. Postpartum, Cycling, and Conceiving Again

28. Long-term Health

Part 5: Stories of Hope

29. The Road to Recovery

Appendix List of Abbreviations References Index